Supreme Court No. 9779-4

Continue Andrews
Conference
Confe

COA No. 328368

Superior Court No. 2014-2-02186-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

JERRI MAINER

Petitioner.

VS.

CITY OF SPOKANE,

Respondents.

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Dean T. Chuang .

Attorney for Petitioner

CRARY, CLARK & DOMANICO, P.S.

East 9417 Trent Avenue

Spokane, Washington 99206-4285

(509) 926-4900

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO MOTION:

Petitioner, Jerri Mainer, seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision denying review based on jurisdictional grounds. The petitioner seeks review of the Spokane County Superior Court decision granting dismissal of the petitioner's claim under CR 12(b)(6).

From November 1, 2008 – August 3, 2011, the City of Spokane issued thousands of photo red traffic tickets. On June 17, 2011, Spokane County Superior Court found the City's issuance of those photo red tickets violated the RCW 9A.72.085 by not accurately notating where the citation was actually signed by the issuing officer. App. 19-23. On June 13, 2014, Ms. Mainer sued the City for unjust enrichment seeking damages for herself, and a putative class, who received photo red tickets between

November 1, 2008 and June 20, 2011. App. 9-18.

The issue before this Court is whether the Spokane County Superior Court properly dismissed Ms. Mainer's putative class action lawsuit under CR 12(b)(6). For the reasons stated below, this Court should accept review.

IV. LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Accept Discretionary Review Because The Underlying Superior Court Decision Involves "A Significant Question Of Law Under The Constitution Of The State Of Washington Or Of The United States".

The dismissal of a putative class action pursuant to CR 12(b)(6) without review by any appellate court, in itself, involves a significant question of law under the Washington State and Federal Constitution.

Such non-reviewability violates the Article I, section three of the of the Washington State and the 14th Amendment of United States Constitutions.

Ms. Mainer cannot obtain review the dismissal of her claim at this early stage. Indeed, the case law supports appellate review of a CR 12(b)(6) dismissal by a trial court.

CR 12(b)(6) motions should be granted only "sparingly and with care." *Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 120, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987). An appellate court will review the matter *de novo* to determine whether dismissal was proper. *Tenore v. AT &T*

Wireless Servs., 136 Wn.2d 322, 329, 962 P.2d 104 (1998). A motion to dismiss is only in the unusual case in which plaintiff includes allegations that show on the face of the complaint that there is insuperable bar to relief. *Hoffer v. State*, 110 Wn.2d 415, 420, 755 P.2d 781 (1988).

Here, the trial court's 12(b)(6) dismissal is not reviewable due to the jurisdictional limits of the court of appeals. The plaintiff in this situation lacks any appellate remedy other than the Supreme Court to review the dismissal. Furthermore, the trial court's order lacks any analysis or basis for the dismissal.

This Court should accept review to determine whether the superior court properly dismissed all claims by the petitioner.

B. The Trial Court Granting Of CR 12(b)(6) Dismissal Was In Error And Contrary To Established Case Law.

The trial court erred when it granted dismissal pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). The court misapplied relevant case law it dismissed. The petitioner did have a colorable claim under Washington State law for the following reasons.

1. The Trial Court Erred In Finding That the Superior Court Lacked Jurisdiction Over The Plaintiff's Claim.

The Superior Court has jurisdiction over equitable claims regarding system wide violations of mandatory statutory

requirements - - such as RCW 9A.72.085 - - and from repetitious violations of constitutional rights by a municipality in enforcement of municipal ordinances. RCW 35.20.030: Wash. Const. Art. 4, § 6: Orwick v. City of Seattle, 103 Wn.2d 249 (1984). In Orwrick, the plaintiffs filed suit because of the inadequate calibration of speed measuring devices. They alleged system wide violations of mandatory statutory requirements by a municipal court and from alleged repetitious violations of constitutional rights by a municipality in enforcement of municipal ordinances. As such, the Supreme Court determined that the superior did have jurisdiction to hear the matter, enough though it stemmed from a municipal court matter. Id. at 252.

This case is analogous to *Orwick*: Ms. Mainer alleged that the procedures used by the City to adjudicate red light citations violated RCW 9A.72.085 (statute governing the certification of unsworn statements) and GR 30 (court rule governing electronic filing). This case is an allegation of a system-wide violation of a statutory requirement. Thus, the superior court had jurisdiction to hear the matter, even though it stemmed from a municipal court matter.

2. The Trial Court Erred In Barring Ms. Mainer's Claim Under Res Judicata.

A party asserting a *res judicata* defense must establish that the subsequent action is identical to an earlier action in: (1) identity of persons and parties, (2) the subject matter, (3) the cause of action, and (4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made. *Stevens Cnty. v. Futurewise*, 146 Wn. App. 493, 503 (2008).

Here, the trial court improperly barred Ms. Mainer's claim. The City did not meet the *Stevens* criteria. As to points (1) and (4), the parties differ from the above-referenced 2011 action, as this case is *not* simply Ms. Mainer, but rather Ms. Mainer and a class of plaintiffs similarly situated. Therefore, the parties have changed since Ms. Mainer's original case, and *res judicata* does not apply. As to point (2) Ms. Mainer's claim is more than, as the City claimed, an action "seeking to overturn her citation for a traffic infraction." CP 69. Ms. Mainer's citation was "overturned" in 2011 when the Spokane County Superior Court found the photo red scheme void. Ms. Mainer now seeks repayment of a fine improperly levied (against her and a putative class of similarly situated citizens) as part of a broad scheme that violated RCW 9A.72.085. App. 9-

18. The system wide violation of RCW 9A.72.085 was not addressed at Ms. Mainer's red light infraction hearing; and, as such, is not barred in this action. As to point (3), the City's claim that "Ms. Mainer is challenging the same citation and is seeking to undo it, without any new evidence," (CP 70) is inaccurate. The cause of action originally before the municipal court was whether Ms. Mainer ran the red light, in violation of RCW 46.61.060. Ms. Mainer's claim in this case is for unjust enrichment - - - an entirely different claim. For these reasons, the trial court erred in barring Ms. Mainer's claim.

3. The trial court erred in barring Ms. Mainer's claim under the statute of limitations for unjust enrichment.

A three-year statute of limitations applies for a cause of action for restitution and unjust enrichment. See Davenport v. Washington Educ.

Ass 'n.. 147 Wn. App. 704, 737-38 (2008). A cause of action accrues when a party has a right to apply to a court for relief. Malnar v. Carlson. 128

Wn.2d 521 (1996). See also Eckert v. Skagit Corp.. 20 Wn. App. 849, 851 (1978)(evaluating the statute of limitations for a unjust enrichment claim and holding "[g]enarally cause of action accrues and the statute of limitations begins to run when a party has the right to apply to a court for relief.")(citations omitted). Under the discovery rule the statute of

limitations does not begin to run until the plaintiff, using reasonable diligence, should have discovered the cause of action. *Peters v. Simmons*, 87 Wn.2d 400, 404 (1976). Additionally, the question of when a plaintiff should have discovered the elements of a cause of action so as to begin the running of the statute of limitation is a question of fact inappropriate for dismissal on a CR 12 motion. *Green v. A.P.C. (Am. Pharm. Co.)*, 136 Wn.2d 87, 100 (1998).

The statute of limitations commenced on June 17. 2011, the day

Judge Leveque ruled that photo red light infractions issued by the City

were void due to the fact that the provisions of RCW 9A.72.085 and GR

30 were not followed in issuing the citations. At that point, three things

happened. First, it became unjust for the City of Spokane to retain the

monies it obtained from the illegal photo red scheme. Second, Ms. Mainer

obtained a right seek damages for unjust enrichment. Third, the statute of

limitations on Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment claim began to run. Ms.

Mainer's claim is not barred by the statute of limitations.

4. The Trial Court Erred In Finding That The Voluntary Payment Doctrine Applied.

The voluntary payment doctrine provides that "money voluntarily paid under a claim of right to the payment, and with full knowledge of the

facts by the person making the payment, cannot be recovered back on the ground that the claim was illegal, or that there was no liability to pay in the first instance." Indoor Billboard Washington, Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Washington, Inc., 162 Wn.2d 59, 85 (2007)(holding the voluntary payment doctrine only applies to contract claims, refusing to apply the voluntary payment doctrine to a CPA claim) and (citing Speckert v. Bunker Hill Ariz. Mining Co., 6 Wn.2d 39 (1940)). The voluntary payment doctrine does not apply, however, "where [the] payment of money ... is induced by fraud and deceit, it may be recovered back by the payor, and if the fraud is the inducement for the payment, the rule applies although it is not the sole producing cause." Id. Additionally the doctrine does not apply when the person making the payment is (a) unaware of the facts that make the demand illegal and (b) is not faced with an immediate and urgent necessity to pay the illegal demand. Speckert, 6 Wn.2d at 52. And lastly, "the question whether a payment is voluntary or involuntary is one of law where the facts are undisputed, but when the facts are in dispute it is for the jury to say whether the money was paid voluntarily or in consequence of compulsion or duress." *Id.* at 52.

The Voluntary Payment doctrine does not apply to this case because Ms. Mainer was unware of illegality of the citations when she

paid her ticket. Furthermore, even if voluntary payment doctrine did apply, the trial court erred because issues of fact exist as to whether Ms. Mainer's payment was voluntary.

C. This Court Should Accept Discretionary Review Because The Underlying Superior Court Decision Involves "A Fundamental And Urgent Issue Of Broad Public Import Which Requires Prompt And Ultimate Determination".

Thousands of "photo red" tickets issued by the City of Spokane were illegally issued to drivers between November 1, 2009 and June 20, 2011. These tickets were later determined to be void due to non-compliance with RCW 9A.72.085. It is estimated that 18,000 tickets were illegally issued during that time period. See Spokesman Review, available at http://www.spokesman.com/stories/2014/jun/16/spokane-faces-class-action-lawsuit-over-red-light-/ (last visited December 28, 2015). The red light program has expanded subsequent years and in 2014, the City of Spokane and American Traffic Solutions (ATS) generated close to 2.1 million in fines. See Spokesman Review, available at http://www.spokesman.com/stories/2014/jan/26/spokanes-red-light-cameras-make-streets-safer/ (last visited December 28, 2015).

Therefore, the plaintiff sought class action status, however, before certification was granted, the superior court granted dismissal of the claim.

App. 24-25. This suit involves an urgent issue of broad public import due to the sheer amount of illegally citations issued by the City of Spokane during the time period in question.

Specifically, the plaintiff alleges the City of Spokane was unjustly enriched by requiring citizens to pay \$124 per photo red light tickets.

These tickets falsely stated that they were signed under penalty of perjury in Spokane, Washington, which they were not. App. 19-23.

A claim that a municipality illegally issued traffic citations and wrongfully kept such revenue is an issue of broad public import and this Court should grant review.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review.

Respectfully submitted this 29th Day of December, 2015

Dean T. Chuang, WSBA 38095

Crary. Clark & Domanico, P.S.

9417 E Trent Ave

Spokane, WA 99206

(509) 926-4900

(509) 924-7771 FAX

dchuang@ccdlaw.com