I. INTRODUCTION. 

Appellant Jeri Mainer's petition for review1 should be denied. 

Failing to concede the trial court's dismissal of her collateral attack 

on a prior final order-and the Washington Court of Appeals' 

finding that it lacked jurisdiction to review that dismissal on grounds 

that it did not rise to the $200 amount in controversy threshold-

Ms. Mainer now seeks review by this Court. The petition, however, 

fails to provide any basis grounded in RAP 13.4. Indeed, 

Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment claim, which is barred by res 

judicata, the applicable statute of limitations, and the voluntary 

payment doctrine, fails to set forth any constitutional question of law 

and does not concern matters of substantial public interest. Nor 

does Ms. Mainer identify a single Washington Supreme Court or 

Court of Appeals decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals 

decision below. As a result, Ms. Mainer's re-argument of the same 

points she argued unsuccessfully below bear no weight. Even 

addressing Ms. Mainer's claim on the merits presents no basis for 

review. Well-settled law precludes Ms. Mainer's claim, both on 

1 Ms. Mainer filed her request as a "Motion for Discretionary 
Review." Respondent, the City of Spokane, regards it as a petition 
for review pursuant to RAP 13.4. The term "petition" is used to 
reference Ms. Mainer's motion. 
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jurisdictional and substantive grounds. As such, the petition should 

be denied. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

On December 7, 2010, Ms. Mainer ran a red light in the City 

of Spokane (the "City"). Petitioner's Appendix (hereinafter "Pet. 

App.") at 12. This was detected by an automated traffic safety 

system (red light camera). /d. Subsequently, on December 14, 

2010, Ms. Mainer received a notice of infraction ("NOI") in the mail 

related to her traffic infraction. /d.; see generally, Respondent's 

Appendix (hereinafter Resp. App.), attached. In response, and 

before the Spokane Municipal Court (the "Municipal Court"), 

Ms. Mainer contested the citation by arguing only that "she was not 

sure who may have been driving the vehicle at the time of the 

alleged violation." Pet. App. at 12; Resp. App. at 9. Despite full 

opportunity to do so, Ms. Mainer did not assert any other 

challenges to the NO I. /d. After considering Ms. Mainer's 

challenge, the Municipal Court entered a finding that Ms. Mainer 

had "committed" the infraction. Pet. App. at 12; Resp. App. at 17. 

Ms. Mainer did not appeal or seek to vacate that order. /d. 

Instead, on March 25, 2011, Ms. Mainer "paid the $124.00 fine as 

ordered." Pet. App. at 12; Resp. App. at 18. 
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More than three years later, Ms. Mainer sued the City in 

Spokane County Superior Court (the "Superior Court") in an 

attempt to collaterally attack the Municipal Court's final order on her 

infraction, asserting a new unjust enrichment theory that she failed 

to raise in the first instance. Pet. App. at 15-16. In response, the 

City moved to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6) on four separate and 

independent legal grounds that bar Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment 

complaint: (1) the Superior Court's lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction; (2) res judicata; (3) the applicable three-year statute of 

limitations; and (4) the voluntary payment doctrine. The Superior 

Court granted the City's motion. Pet. App. at 24-25. 

Ms. Mainer appealed the Superior Court's decision to the 

Court of Appeals. Upon review, the Court of Appeals issued an 

unpublished opinion finding it lacked jurisdiction to consider 

Ms. Mainer's appeal on account of the fact that the amount in 

controversy failed to reach the·court's $200 jurisdictional threshold. 

Pet. App. 1-8. The Court of Appeals dismissed Ms. Mainer's 

appeal accordingly, and Ms. Mainer's petition for review followed. 
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Ill. LEGAL ARGUMENT. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW. 

Contrary to Ms. Mainer's contentions, the issue before this 

Court is not whether the Superior Court "properly dismissed" her 

putative class action complaint under CR 12(b)(6) (Petitioner's 

Brief, hereinafter "Pet. Br.," at 2), but instead whether the 

circumstances of that dismissal meet this Court's high threshold for 

accepting discretionary appellate review. They do not. Under RAP 

13.4(b), the Court will only grant a petition for discretionary review: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 
conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; 
or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 
United States is involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of 
substantial public interest that should be determined 
by the Supreme Court. 

Ms. Mainer does not even reference RAP 13.4 in her petition. 

Regardless, as to (1) and (2), Ms. Mainer does not contend that the 

Court of Appeals ruling below conflicts with a Supreme Court or 

other Court of Appeals decision; rather, she submits that the 

Superior Court "erred" when it purportedly "misapplied relevant 
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case law." Pet. Br. at 3. As set forth below, that is neither the 

standard nor correct. As to (3) and (4), Ms. Mainer fails to 

demonstrate that her claim raises any significant questions of state 

or federal constitutional law or that her petition involves issues of 

substantial public interest requiring the Court's intervention. 

Indeed, Ms. Mainer's claim involves no constitutional questions and 

no issues of public interest. 

B. MS. MAINER'S CLAIM DOES NOT INVOLVE ANY STATE 
OR FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES. 

The underlying basis for Ms. Mainer's complaint-a $124 

traffic ticket-does not involve a single question of constitutional 

law, much less a "significant" constitutional issue. In her complaint, 

Ms. Mainer pled a single claim-unjust enrichment-and cited to no 

federal or state constitutional provisions, made no allegations 

arising under federal or state constitutional law, and identified no 

purported violations of any federal or state constitutional rights. 

Pet. App. at 9-18. 

Failing to have alleged any constitutional issues in her 

complaint, Ms. Mainer now asserts a previously unraised and 

unsupported argument, namely, that the dismissal of her unjust 

enrichment claim deprived her of "life, liberty, or property, without 
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due process of law" under Article I, Section 3 of the Washington 

Constitution-as well as under the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

U.S. Constitution-because the Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction 

to consider her appeal. Pet. Br. at 2-3. That argument fails for at 

least three reasons. 

First, Ms. Mainer's failure to raise her alleged due process 

claim in the first instance constitutes waiver on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); 

see also Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432,441, 

191 P.3d 879 (2008) ("A party who fails to raise an issue at trial 

normally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal."). There is 

no basis for Ms. Mainer's after-the-fact challenge. 

Second, by Ms. Mainer's own allegations, the City afforded 

her with due process of law as to the underlying traffic violation at 

issue in her complaint. Ms. Mainer received a citation, contested 

the citation by mail, and, after review, the Municipal Court found a 

violation. Pet. App. at 12; see also Resp. App. at 17. Had 

Ms. Mainer wished to further contest the traffic violation, she could 

have appealed the Municipal Court's decision to the Superior Court 

at that time. She did not. Instead, Ms. Mainer paid the $124 fine 

as ordered. Simply put, that is due process of law. 
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Third, after the Superior Court properly dismissed 

Ms. Mainer's collateral attack on the Municipal Court's final order, 

the Court of Appeals correctly found in its unpublished opinion that 

it lacked jurisdiction to consider the appeal. In doing so, the Court 

of Appeals also correctly found that "[t]here is no constitutional right 

to appeal in civil cases." Pet. App. at 4 (quoting City of Bremerton 

v. Spears, 134 Wn.2d 141, 148, 949 P.2d 347 (1998)). 

Accordingly, the fact that the Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction to 

accept review of the Superior Court's CR 12(b )(6) dismissal was 

not a deprivation of Ms. Mainer's constitutional right to due process, 

since Ms. Mainer had no constitutional right to appeal the dismissal. 

Ms. Mainer cites no authority to the contrary.2 

For these reasons, Ms. Mainer identifies no significant 

federal or state constitutional issues involved in this matter. 

C. THE SUPERIOR COURT DECISION DOES NOT 
CONCERN ANY ISSUES OF BROAD PUBLIC 
IMPORTANCE. 

Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment claim-and the Superior 

Court's dismissal of it-does not concern any matters of substantial 

public interest. The crux of Ms. Mainer's complaint is a collateral 

2 In her petition, Ms. Mainer also appears to concede that the Court 
of Appeals did, in fact, lack jurisdiction to consider her appeal. Pet. 
Br. at 3. 
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attack on the final Municipal Court order obligating Ms. Mainer to 

pay $124 for a traffic ticket, an order Ms. Mainer declined to appeal 

and a fine she voluntarily paid. Pet. App. at 6. The only authority 

Ms. Mainer relies on to support her position is a single trial court 

opinion and order, (i.e. the "Wardrop order"). Pet. Br. at 1; Pet. 

App. at 11-13, 19-23. The Wardrop order has no precedential 

value. Bauman v. Turpen, 139 Wn. App. 78, 87, 160 P.3d 1050 

(2007). Indeed, contrary to Ms. Mainer's contention, the Wardrop 

order applied to only three people, the three named plaintiffs, none 

of whom was Ms. Mainer. Pet. Br. at 1; Pet. App. at 11-12, 19-23. 

That Ms. Mainer framed her unjust enrichment complaint as 

a putative class action is of no import. Pet. Br. at 9-1 0; Pet. App. at 

13-15. No class was ever certified. Mere allegations of a putative 

class action do not give rise to "an issue of substantial public 

interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Even if class certification were 

appropriate under Ms. Mainer's allegations-and it is not-res 

judicata would preclude Ms. Mainer from being a class participant 

and thus disqualify her from being a plaintiff in any such class 

action, including this action. 

As such, the Court should deny Ms. Mainer's petition. 
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D. TRIAL COURT "ERROR" IS NOT GROUNDS FOR 
DISCRETIONARY REVIEW; REGARDLESS, THE 
SUPERIOR COURT DID NOT ERR. 

Failing to articulate any significant constitutional issues or 

matters of public importance under RAP 13.4, Ms. Mainer falls back 

on simply re-litigating arguments already rejected correctly by the 

lower courts, but such "error" is not grounds for appeal. Neither the 

Superior Court nor the Court of Appeals erred in its decision. 

1. The Superior Court properly found that it lacked 
subject matter jurisdiction. 

Under RCW 3.50.020, a "municipal court shall have 

exclusive original jurisdiction over traffic infractions arising under 

city ordinances .... " Interpreting that provision, this Court 

previously held: 

If a court has original jurisdiction, an action may be 
filed there. If it has exclusive original jurisdiction, the 
action must be filed there and nowhere else. If a court 
has exclusive original jurisdiction, all that remains to 
any other court is appellate jurisdiction. 

City of Spokane v. County of Spokane, 158 Wn.2d 661, 682, 146 

P.3d 893 (2006) (emphasis, internal quotation marks, and citation 

omitted). The Superior Court, therefore, properly held that it did not 

have original jurisdiction over Ms. Mainer's claim, which was vested 

solely with the Municipal Court. For this reason alone, Ms. Mainer's 

case was correctly dismissed as a matter of law. 
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Ms. Mainer's argument that the Superior Court had 

jurisdiction to hear her claim because it was an equitable claim is 

misplaced. Pet. Br. at 3-4. The primary authority on which 

Ms. Mainer relies for that premise-Orwick v. City of Seattle, 103 

Wn.2d 249, 692 P.2d 793 (1984)-is inapposite here. In Orwick, 

the plaintiffs asserted "claim[s] for injunctive and declaratory relief 

... based on their rights under a state statute and the state and 

federal constitutions." 103 Wn.2d at 252 (emphasis added). The 

court concluded that such claims do not "arise under" a municipal 

ordinance and, therefore, are not within the exclusive jurisdiction of 

a Municipal Court. /d. 

Unlike in Orwick, Ms. Mainer seeks a refund of the fine she 

paid to the City pursuant to a City ordinance. She did not assert 

any claims based on "rights under a state statute and the state and 

federal constitutions."3 Ms. Mainer's claim thus "arises under" the 

City's municipal ordinance and, as a result, was within the exclusive 

jurisdiction of the Municipal Court, not the Superior Court. 

3 While Ms. Mainer does claim that a violation of RCW 9A.72.085 
makes her traffic infraction invalid, RCW 9A.72.085 provides no 
"rights" or cause of action and, as such, reliance on it did not confer 
jurisdiction on the Superior Court. 
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2. Res judicata barred Ms. Mainer's claim. 

Res judicata prevents a party from re-litigating all claims that 

were raised, or that could have been raised, in an earlier action. 

See Stevens County v. Futurewise, 146 Wn. App. 493, 502, 192 

P.3d 1 (2008). The res judicata doctrine exists to prevent 

piecemeal litigation and to ensure the finality of judgments. /d. at 

502-03. The elements necessary to satisfy the res judicata doctrine 

are well established and preclude claims where a later action has 

the same (1) parties, (2) subject matter, (3) cause of action, and (4) 

quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made, as the 

original action. /d. at 503. 

Washington courts, as well as others throughout the country, 

have applied res judicata to preclude actions exactly like 

Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment complaint. For example, in Holder 

v. City of Vancouver, No. C08-5099RBL, 2008 WL 918725, at *3 

(W.O. Wash. Apr. 3, 2008), the district court granted the City of 

Vancouver's motion to dismiss on res judicata grounds because the 

plaintiff there was merely trying tore-litigate a parking infraction.4 

4 See, e.g., Kovach v. District of Columbia, 805 A.2d 957, 962-63 
(D.C. Ct. App. 2002) (plaintiffs estopped from re-litigating traffic 
camera tickets); Dajani v. Governor & Gen. Assembly, No. 
Civ.CCB-00-713, 2001 WL 85181, at *2-3 (D. Md. Jan. 24, 2001) 
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Here, Ms. Mainer and the City were both parties to the 

original traffic ticket contest, satisfying the first and fourth res 

judicata elements. The second element is likewise satisfied 

because Ms. Mainer sought to overturn her traffic ticket in the 

Municipal Court action and sought to do the exact same thing 

through her unjust enrichment claim. And the third element5 is met, 

as the same traffic citation and fine are at issue in both cases; by 

her unjust enrichment complaint, Ms. Mainer merely attempted to 

challenge the citation under a new legal hypothesis but without any 

new evidence. 

Further, Ms. Mainer's class action allegations do not negate 

application of res judicata to bar her underlying claim. Ms. Mainer 

cannot state her own claim for relief under the facts she has 

alleged; as a result, Ms. Mainer cannot represent a class seeking 

such relief. 

(finding that analogous Rooker-Feldman doctrine bars re-litigation 
of municipal court claim in subsequent federal action). 
5 To determine whether two causes of action are the same, 
Washington courts consider whether "(1) prosecution of the later 
action would impair the rights established in the earlier action, (2) 
the evidence in both actions is substantially the same, (3) 
infringement of the same right is alleged in both actions, and (4) the 
actions arise out of the same nucleus of facts." Civil Serv. Comm'n 
v. City of Kelso, 137 Wn.2d 166, 171,969 P.2d 474 (1999). 
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3. The applicable three-year statute of limitations 
barred Ms. Mainer's claim. 

Ms. Mainer concedes Washington law applies a three-year 

statute of limitations to an unjust enrichment claim. RCW 

4.16.080(2) ("[a]n action for taking, detaining, or injuring personal 

property, including an action for the specific recovery thereof, or for 

any other injury to the person or rights of another not hereinafter 

enumerated" shall be commenced within three years); see also 

Geranios v. Annex lnvs., Inc., 45 Wn.2d 233, 273 P.2d 793 (1954) 

(holding that the three-year statute of limitations applicable to 

actions on unwritten contracts, RCW 4.16.080(3), applies to an 

action for unjust enrichment). While Ms. Mainer does not dispute 

the applicability of the limitations period, she does not accept the 

reality of when her claim accrued. Ms. Mainer believes, without 

citation to authority, that the Wardrop order-a non-precedential 

case with a holding strictly limited to the three individual plaintiffs 

named in the suit-triggered the three-year statutory period 

applicable to Ms. Mainer. Ms. Mainer is wrong. 

An unjust enrichment claim accrues at the time of payment. 

See, e.g., Wash. Sec. Co. v. State, 9 Wn.2d 197, 203, 114 P.2d 

965 (1941) ("respondent, immediately upon payment by it to, and 
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receipt by, the state of the purchase money, could have instituted 

an action to recover the purchase price paid"); Eckert v. Skagit 

Corp., 20 Wn. App. 849, 852, 583 P.2d 1239 (1978) ("[T]he cause 

of action arose, if ever, when [the employer] first made use of the 

device."). Here, Ms. Mainer indisputably paid the fine at issue on 

March 25, 2011, and, three years later, the limitations period 

expired on March 25, 2014. Pet. App. at 12; Resp. App. at 18. 

Ms. Mainer filed her unjust enrichment claim on June 13, 2014, 

and, as a result, her claim is time-barred. 

As at the Court of Appeals, Ms. Mainer tries to argue around 

this clear bar by suggesting the discovery rule tolled the three-year 

statute of limitations until after the Wardrop order issued.6 Pet. Br. 

at 7. The discovery rule, however, does not cure Ms. Mainer's 

untimeliness. Under that rule, a cause of action accrues when the 

plaintiff discovers-or should have discovered in the reasonable 

exercise of due diligence-the elements of her cause of action. 

1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 575-76, 146 

P.3d 423 (2006). "This does not mean that the action accrues 

6 Ms. Mainer neglected to raise her discovery rule argument in 
Superior Court, and, accordingly, waived the issue on appeal. RAP 
2.5(a); see also Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 
432, 441, 191 P .3d 879 (2008) ("A party who fails to raise an issue 
at trial normally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal."). 
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when the plaintiff learns that he or she has a legal cause of action; 

rather, the action accrues when the plaintiff discovers the salient 

facts underlying the elements of the cause of action." /d. at 576 

(emphasis added). 

Even if Ms. Mainer's misapplication of the discovery rule 

were proper-and it is not-the Wardrop order, at best, merely 

informed Ms. Mainer that she may have a new legal theory; the 

Wardrop order did not change the facts then available-or 

previously available-to Ms. Mainer regarding the facts and law 

related to her infraction and fine. Rather, Ms. Mainer had 

knowledge of all relevant facts underlying any potential cause of 

action by December 14, 2010, the date she received the NOI. 

Accordingly, Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment claim expired on 

March 25, 2014, and her claim is time-barred under the statute of 

limitations. 

4. The voluntary payment doctrine barred 
Ms. Mainer's claim. 

Under Washington law, money voluntarily paid under a claim 

of right to the payment, and with knowledge by the payor of the 

facts on which the claim is based, cannot be recovered on the 

ground that the claim was illegal, or that there was no liability to pay 
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in the first instance. Speckert v. Bunker Hill Ariz. Mining Co., 6 

Wn.2d 39, 52, 106 P.2d 602 (1940); see also Lynch v. Deaconess 

Med. Ctr., 113 Wn.2d 162, 165,776 P.2d 681 (1989) (holding 

same); Riensche v. Cingular Wireless LLC, No. C06-1325Z, 2007 

WL 3407137, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 9, 2007) (applying voluntary 

payment rule to claim for unjust enrichment), vacated on other 

grounds, 320 F. Appx 646 (9th Cir. 2009). "The voluntary payment 

doctrine imposes upon a person who disputes the appropriateness 

of a bill the obligation to assert [a] challenge either before or 

contemporaneously with making payment." Riensche, 2007 WL 

3407137, at *5. Neither a mistake of law nor a claim of legal 

compulsion.is a valid defense to application of the voluntary 

payment rule. Miller v. United Pac. Cas. Ins. Co., 187 Wash. 629, 

640, 60 P.2d 714 (1936); see also Telescripps Cable Co. v. Welsh, 

247 Ga. App. 282, 285, 542 S.E.2d 640 (2000) (holding that a 

mistake of law does not prevent application of the voluntary 

payment rule); Hawkinson v. Conniff, 53 Wn.2d 454, 459, 334 P.2d 

540 (1959) (holding that a "threat of civil proceedings does not 

constitute duress if it is made in good faith and without coercion" 

and, as such, does not defeat the voluntary payment rule). 
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Applying these principles here, the voluntary payment 

doctrine bars Ms. Mainer's unjust enrichment claim. By 

Ms. Mainer's own allegations in her complaint, she challenged her 

infraction, and, when that challenge failed, she voluntarily paid the 

fine without asserting unjust enrichment or any other claim. Pet. 

App. at 12. Indeed, Ms. Mainer's complaint expressly states that 

"Ms. Mainer paid the fine of $124.00 as ordered." /d. 

Attempting to argue around the voluntary payment doctrine, 

Ms. Mainer claims she "was unaware of [sic] illegality of the 

citations when she paid her ticket," and points to an exception in 

cases involving payments made as a result of fraud or deceit? Pet. 

Br. at 8-9. That argument is easily disposed of for at least three 

reasons. First, Ms. Mainer never alleged that her payment resulted 

from fraud or deceit on the City's part or on the part of the Municipal 

Court. Second, Ms. Mainer ignores prevailing Washington law 

holding money voluntarily paid under a claim of right to the 

payment, and with knowledge by the payor of the facts on which 

the claim is based, cannot be recovered on the ground that the 

claim was illegal or that there was no liability to pay in the first 

7 As with her discovery rule argument, Ms. Mainer failed to raise the 
fraud-deceit exception to the voluntary payment doctrine at the 
Court of Appeals and waived the issue. 
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instance. Speckert, 6 Wn.2d at 52. And, third, Ms. Mainer cannot 

dispute the facts relevant to the voluntary payment doctrine: She 

was ordered to pay a fine for her infraction, she challenged it and 

the Municipal Court ordered her to pay the fine, she neglected to 

further appeal that final order, and she voluntarily paid the $124 

fine. Pet. App. at 12. Ms. Mainer identifies no other "disputed" 

facts related to the voluntary payment doctrine and none exist. As 

a result, the voluntary payments doctrine also bars Ms. Mainer's 

unjust enrichment claim. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny 

Ms. Mainer's petition for review.